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1100 Boulders Parkway
Richmond, Virginia 23225

Annual Meeting of Shareholders
March 23, 2006
To Our Shareholders:
We invite you to attend the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held at Lewis Ginter Botanical Garden, 1800 Lakeside Avenue,
Richmond, Virginia, 23228, on Thursday, May 18, 2006, at 8:30 a.m., Eastern Daylight Time. A formal notice of the meeting, a proxy
statement and a proxy form are enclosed. You are being asked to elect directors and ratify the appointment of Tredegar s independent registered

public accounting firm for the coming year and conduct any other business properly raised at the meeting.

Please complete, sign, date and return the enclosed proxy form promptly, regardless of whether you plan to attend the meeting, using the
enclosed self-addressed, stamped envelope. You may still vote in person at the meeting, even if you return the proxy.

On behalf of our Board of Directors, management and employees of Tredegar Corporation, I thank you for your continued support and
confidence in our company.

Sincerely yours,

Richard L. Morrill
Chairman of the Board

Your vote is important. Please sign and date the enclosed proxy card and return it promptly in the enclosed envelope to ensure that your
shares will be represented at the annual meeting. Holders of a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote must be present either
in person or by proxy for the meeting to be held. If you attend the meeting and vote your shares, any previous proxies will be revoked.

w
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TREDEGAR CORPORATION

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

TIME:

PLACE:

ITEMS OF BUSINESS:

WHO MAY VOTE:

DATE OF MAILING:

Thursday, May 18, 2006, at 8:30 a.m.

Lewis Ginter Botanical Garden
1800 Lakeside Avenue
Richmond, Virginia 23228
(see directions on reverse)

1. To elect three directors to serve until the 2009 annual meeting and
until their successors are elected;

2. To ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as
Tredegar s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal

year ending December 31, 2006; and

3. To conduct any other business properly raised at the annual meeting or
any adjournments thereof.

You may vote if you were a shareholder of record on March 14, 2006.

This notice and the proxy statement are first being mailed to shareholders on
or about March 23, 2006.

By Order of the Board of Directors

W. Hildebrandt Surgner, Jr.
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION
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[Directions to Lewis Ginter Botanical Garden]
. ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
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PROXY STATEMENT
for

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TREDEGAR CORPORATION

To be held May 18, 2006

Approximate date of mailing--March 23, 2006

VOTING INFORMATION

The Board of Directors (the Board ) of Tredegar Corporation, a Virginia corporation ( Tredegar ), is soliciting your proxy for the annual
meeting of shareholders to be held on Thursday, May 18, 2006. This proxy statement and proxy form contain information about the
items you will be voting on at the annual meeting.

Who may vote?

You may vote if you owned shares of Tredegar common stock on March 14, 2006, the date established by the Board for determining
shareholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting. On that date, there were 38,791,338 outstanding shares of Tredegar common stock. Each
share of Tredegar common stock is entitled to one vote.

What are the proposals shareholders will be voting on at the annual meeting?

You will be voting on the following:

The election of three directors;

The ratification of the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP ( PwC ) as Tredegar s independent registered public accounting
firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006; and

Any other business properly raised at the annual meeting or any adjournments thereof.
How do I vote my shares?

You may vote your shares as follows:

1. You may vote in person at the annual meeting. Even if you plan to attend the annual meeting, we encourage you to vote your shares
by proxy.

2. You may vote by mail by completing, signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy in the self-addressed, stamped envelope
provided.

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION 6
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What constitutes a quorum for the annual meeting?

A quorum is a majority of the outstanding shares of Tredegar common stock, present in person or represented by proxy at the annual meeting.
Abstentions, withheld votes and shares held of record by a broker or its nominee that are voted on any matter at the annual meeting are included
in determining the number of shares present. Shares held of record by a broker or its nominee that are not voted on any matter at the annual
meeting will not be included in determining whether a quorum is present. A quorum is necessary to conduct business at the annual meeting.

What are my voting choices when voting on the director nominees?

In the vote on the election of Tredegar s director nominees, you may:

1. vote for all nominees;
2. withhold votes as to all nominees; or
3. withhold a vote as to one or more specific nominees.

A nominee is elected to the Board if a plurality of votes cast in the election of directors is cast for the nominee. Signing and returning your proxy
card will constitute a vote for all of the nominees unless your proxy specifies that you are withholding authority to vote for any of the nominees.
Any votes withheld will not be counted in determining the number of votes cast. In the event that any nominee for director is unavailable for
election, the Board may either reduce the number of directors or choose a substitute nominee. If the Board chooses a substitute nominee, the
shares represented by a proxy will be voted for the substitute nominee, unless other instructions are given in the proxy.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT THE SHAREHOLDERS VOTE FOR ALL OF THE NOMINEES.

What are my voting choices when voting on the ratification of the appointment of PwC as Tredegar s independent registered public
accounting firm?

In voting on the ratification of the appointment of PwC as Tredegar s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2006, you may:

1. vote for the ratification of the appointment of PwC;
2. vote against the ratification of the appointment of PwC; or
3. abstain from voting on the ratification of the appointment of PwC.

The ratification of the appointment of PwC as Tredegar s independent registered public accounting firm requires that the number of votes cast for
the ratification exceeds the number of votes cast against the ratification.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT THE SHAREHOLDERS VOTE FOR THE RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP AS TREDEGAR S INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR
THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2006.

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION 7
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Will my shares be voted if I do not return my proxy?

If you are a Tredegar shareholder whose stock is registered directly in your name with National City Bank, Tredegar s transfer agent, your shares
will only be voted if National City Bank receives specific voting instructions from you.

If you are a Tredegar shareholder whose stock is held in street name with a brokerage firm, your broker may or may not vote your shares in its
discretion if you have not provided voting instructions to the broker. Whether the broker may vote your shares depends on the proposals before
the meeting. Under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange, your broker may vote your shares in its discretion on routine matters. We believe
that the election of directors and the ratification of the appointment of the independent registered public accounting firm are routine matters on
which brokers are permitted to vote on behalf of their clients if no voting instructions are furnished.

The rules of the New York Stock Exchange, however, do not permit your broker to vote your shares on proposals that are not considered routine.
When a proposal is not a routine matter and your broker has not received your voting instructions with respect to that proposal, your broker
cannot vote your shares on that proposal. This is called a broker non-vote.

Can I change or revoke my vote?

Anyone giving a proxy may change or revoke it at any time before it is voted. A proxy can be changed or revoked by (i) voting in person at the
annual meeting, (ii) delivering another later dated proxy, or (iii) notifying Tredegar s Corporate Secretary in writing that you want to change or
revoke your proxy. Attendance at the annual meeting will not itself revoke a proxy. All signed proxies that have not been revoked will be voted
at the annual meeting. If your proxy contains any specific instructions, they will be followed.

What does it mean if I receive more than one proxy card?

If you receive more than one proxy card, it means you have multiple accounts with our transfer agent, National City Bank, or with one or more
brokerage firms and to vote all your shares you will need to sign and return all proxy cards. We encourage you to consolidate your accounts with
the same name and address with National City Bank in a single account whenever possible. Please contact our transfer agent at 1-800-622-6757
for additional information.

Who pays for the solicitation of proxies?

Tredegar will pay the cost of soliciting proxies and may use employees to solicit proxies by mail, in person or by telephone. The Altman Group,
Inc. ( Altman ) has been engaged to solicit proxies from brokers, nominees, fiduciaries and other custodians. Tredegar will pay Altman $5,000 for
its services and will reimburse Altman for its out-of-pocket expenses, including mailing, copying, phone calls, faxes and other matters, and will

indemnify Altman against any losses arising out of that firm s proxy soliciting services on behalf of Tredegar.

3
L]

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION 8



Edgar Filing: TREDEGAR CORP - Form DEF 14A

How may I obtain Tredegar s Form 10-K and other financial information?

A copy of Tredegar s 2005 Annual Report, which includes our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 (the
2005 Form 10-K ), is enclosed.

Shareholders may request additional copies of the 2005 Form 10-K (including the financial statements and financial statement
schedules), without charge, from:

Tredegar Corporation
Attention: Investor Relations
1100 Boulders Parkway
Richmond, Virginia 23225
1-800-411-7441
invest@tredegar.com
A list of exhibits to the 2005 Form 10-K, showing the cost of each, will be delivered with the copy of the 2005 Form 10-K. Any of the

exhibits will be provided upon payment of the charge noted on the list. Exhibits to the 2005 Form 10-K are also available at the
Securities and Exchange Commission website (www.sec.gov).

Current and prospective investors can also access the 2005 Form 10-K on Tredegar s website at www.tredegar.com.
May shareholders ask questions at the annual meeting?

Yes. At the end of the annual meeting, shareholders will be given the opportunity to ask questions.

Will Tredegar s directors be present at the annual meeting?

Yes. It is Tredegar s policy that our directors attend the annual meeting of shareholders.

Is it possible to receive future mailings electronically?

Yes. If you are interested in receiving future shareholder communications electronically rather than receiving paper copies, please check the
appropriate box and provide your e-mail address on your proxy card. When future shareholder communications become available, you will
receive an e-mail letting you know that you may access and download documents from Tredegar s website at www.tredegar.com.

4-
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What if I have questions for Tredegar s transfer agent?

You can contact Tredegar s transfer agent directly with questions concerning stock certificates, dividend checks, transfer of ownership, Tredegar s
dividend reinvestment and stock purchase plan, or other matters relevant to your Tredegar shareholder account at:

National City Bank
Corporate Trust Operations
P.O. Box 92301 (Locator 5352)
Cleveland, OH 44193-0900
Telephone: 1-800-622-6757
Fax: 1-216-257-8508

E-mail: shareholder.inquiries @nationalcity.com

Can I access my Tredegar account online?

Yes. If you are a shareholder of record, you can access your Tredegar shareholder account online via StockAccess at www.ncstockaccess.com, a
service provided by Tredegar s transfer agent, National City Bank. This service makes it easy and convenient to get current information on your
shareholder account, such as:

Review share balances Review dividend payment history
Review certificate history Enroll in our dividend reinvestment plan
Review 1099 tax information Request direct deposit of dividends
Change mailing address Obtain shareholder forms and instructions

You may also access this site by visiting Tredegar s website at www.tredegar.com and selecting Shareholder Services under Investor Relations. If
you have any questions or need assistance (including obtaining a new personal identification (PIN) number), please contact National City Bank s
Shareholder Services Group at 1-800-622-6757.

. _______________________________________________________________________________________________|
-5-
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ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board is divided into three classes of directors. Each class of directors serves for three years. The term for each class is staggered so
that one class is elected at each annual meeting. Certain circumstances could cause the terms of the directors to vary and the classes of directors
to change if a director is elected for less than a three-year term.

The terms of three of Tredegar s present directors, Messrs. Austin Brockenbrough, III, William M. Gottwald and Richard L. Morrill, will
expire at the 2006 annual meeting. Upon the recommendation of the Nominating and Governance Committee, each of these directors has been
nominated by the Board for re-election at the 2006 annual meeting for terms expiring at the 2009 annual meeting.

Should all the nominees be elected to the Board of Tredegar, the director classes after the 2006 annual meeting will be as follows:

Class 1 Class 11 Class 111
Terms expiring Terms expiring Terms expiring
at 2008 annual meeting at 2009 annual meeting at 2007 annual meeting
Horst R. Adam Austin Brockenbrough, III Donald T. Cowles
Norman A. Scher William M. Gottwald John D. Gottwald
R. Gregory Williams Richard L. Morrill Thomas G. Slater, Jr.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT THE SHAREHOLDERS VOTE FOR ALL OF THE NOMINEES.

TREDEGAR S BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Following is certain information concerning the nominees and the directors whose terms of office will continue after the meeting:

Horst R. Adam, 62

[Picture] Chief Executive Officer, Light Dimensions, Inc., a developer and
marketer of light enhanced consumer appliances for home-based health
and beauty markets, since August, 2005, having served previously as
President and Chief Executive Officer of XoftmicroTube, Inc., a
developer of micro-miniature x-ray tubes, from December 2002 until
June 2005, and as President and Chief Executive Officer of EndoVasix,
Inc., a developer of intra-vascular, catheter-based, laser-induced shock
wave instrumentation, from November 1996 until December 2002.
Director since 2005. Term expires 2008.

-6-
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Austin Brockenbrough, II1, 69

[Picture] Managing Director and President of Lowe, Brockenbrough & Company,
Inc., a private investment counseling firm, since 1970. Other
directorship: Trustee of The Williamsburg Investment Trust, a
registered management investment company. Director since 1993. Term
expires 2006.

Donald T. Cowles, 59

[Picture] Executive Director, Initiatives of Change, Inc., a not- for-profit network
working for a more inclusive American society, since January, 2006.
Has also served as a consultant since 2001, having served previously as
Senior Vice President, Construction and Distribution, of Reynolds
Metals Company, an integrated producer of primary aluminum and
aluminum products, and President, Reynolds Aluminum Supply
Company, the metals distribution business of Reynolds Metals
Company, from 1997 to 2001. Director since 2004. Term expires 2007.

John D. Gottwald, 51

[Picture] President and Chief Executive Officer of Tredegar since March 1, 2006,
having served previously as Chairman of the Board of Tredegar from
September 10, 2001 until March 1, 2006, and President and Chief
Executive Officer of Tredegar from July 10, 1989 until September 10,
2001. Other directorship: Albemarle Corporation, a chemicals company
( Albemarle ). Director since 1989. Term expires 2007.

William M. Gottwald, 58

[Picture] Vice Chairman of the Board of Tredegar, and Chairman of the Board of
Directors of Albemarle since March 28, 2001, having served previously
as Vice President, Corporate Strategy, of Albemarle from August 1996
until March 27, 2001. Other directorship: Albemarle. Director since
1997. Term expires 2006.
-7-
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Richard L. Morrill, 66

[Picture] Chairman of the Board of Tredegar since March 1, 2006, and
Chancellor of the University of Richmond since July 1, 1998, having
served previously as Distinguished University Professor of Ethics and
Democratic Values, University of Richmond, from July 1, 1998 until
June 1, 2004. Other directorships: Albemarle and Trustee of The
Williamsburg Investment Trust. Director since 1997. Term expires
2006.

Norman A. Scher, 68

[Picture] Vice Chairman of the Board of Tredegar since March 1, 2006, having
served previously as President and Chief Executive Officer of Tredegar
from September 10, 2001 until March 1, 2006, and as Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Tredegar from July 10, 1989
until September 10, 2001. Other directorship: Alliance One
International, Inc., an international leaf tobacco merchant. Director
since 1989. Term expires 2008.

Thomas G. Slater, Jr., 62

[Picture] Partner of Hunton & Williams LLP, a law firm, since 1976. Director
since 1998. Term expires 2007.

R. Gregory Williams, 54

[Picture] President of CCA Financial Services, LLC, a technology leasing
company, since 1984. Director since 2002. Term expires 2008.
8-
. ______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
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Messrs. John D. Gottwald and William M. Gottwald are brothers. In addition, Mr. Thomas G. Slater, Jr., is married to Mr. John D.
Gottwald s sister-in-law and is a partner of the law firm of Hunton & Williams LLP, which provides legal services to Tredegar on a variety of
matters.

The Board has affirmatively determined that the following members of the Board are independent, as that term is defined under the
general independence standards of the New York Stock Exchange listing standards and Tredegar s Governance Guidelines:

Horst R. Adam
Austin Brockenbrough, III
Donald T. Cowles
Richard L. Morrill
R. Gregory Williams

The Board has adopted, as part of Tredegar s Governance Guidelines, categorical standards to assist it in making these independence
determinations. All of the directors and the nominees identified as independent in this proxy statement meet these categorical standards, which
are attached to this proxy statement as Annex A. A copy of the Governance Guidelines are published on Tredegar s website at

www.tredegar.com. Copies are also available in print to any shareholder upon request by directing the request to Tredegar Corporation, 1100
Boulders Parkway, Richmond, Virginia, 23225, Attention: Corporate Secretary.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

Each member of the Board who was not an employee of Tredegar or any of its subsidiaries was paid $1,500 for attendance at each of the
Board meetings held in 2005. Each director who is a member of Tredegar s Audit Committee, Executive Committee (non-employee directors
only), Executive Compensation Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee (the Committees ), including the chairperson of each
such Committee, received $1,250 for attendance at each meeting of each Committee on which such director serves. Each director who is a
member of the Investment Policy Committee is paid $500 for each meeting attended. No meetings of the Investment Policy Committee were
held during 2005. A director who participated in a Board or Committee meeting by telephone was paid $500 for each meeting in 2005, with the
exception of a Committee chairperson who received $750 for telephonic participation.

In addition to individual meeting fees, the non-employee directors and chairpersons of the Committees received the following annual
retainers for 2005, payable in equal quarterly installments:

Board of Directors* $ 21,836
Audit Committee Chairperson 5,000
Executive Compensation Committee Chairperson 2,000
Nominating and Governance Committee Chairperson 2,000

* Includes quarterly payments of $4,000 plus one hundred shares of Tredegar common stock (aggregate value of equity compensation was
$5,836 in 2005).

Effective March 1, 2006, the Nominating and Governance Committee, in light of the fact that Tredegar will have a
non-executive/non-employee Chairman of the Board, established an additional annual

9-
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retainer for the Chairman of the Board in the amount of $8,000 (payable quarterly) plus additional meeting fees for the Chairman of the Board in
the amount of $500 per Board meeting.

Retainers for the Chairman of the Board and Committee chairpersons commence after their election to such positions by the Board.

During the past three years, Mr. John D. Gottwald did not receive compensation in the form of retainers and meeting fees. As
compensation for his advisory role to Tredegar, as well as in consideration of his service as Chairman of the Board, Mr. Gottwald received the
following base salary and equity awards:

Calendar Year Ended Cash Compensation Restricted Stock Awards
2005* $ 166,667 12,000
2004 $ 250,000 -0-
2003 $ 250,000 -0-

*Effective August 1, 2005, Mr. Gottwald s compensation was reduced to $50,000 annually.

Effective March 1, 2006, the Executive Compensation Committee increased Mr. Gottwald s annual base salary to $285,000, in recognition
of his appointment to the position of President and Chief Executive Officer of Tredegar, and the Nominating and Governance Committee
established an annual base salary for Mr. Scher of $150,000 to reflect his role as Vice Chairman of the Board and his reduced responsibilities as
a non-executive employee of Tredegar. The Executive Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation on page 24 of the proxy
statement contains additional information on the compensation of Messrs. Gottwald and Scher.

There were five meetings of the Board held in 2005. Each director attended all five Board meetings, except Mr. William M. Gottwald,
who was unable to attend one meeting, and Mr. Adam, who attended all Board meetings held after his election to the Board at Tredegar s 2005
annual meeting of shareholders. Each director attended all meetings held in 2005 of Board committees of which the director was a member.

Tredegar s non-management directors meet regularly in private session. The Board has determined that Tredegar s Chairman of the Board
should chair all meetings of non-management directors, as provided in Tredegar s Governance Guidelines. During these meetings, the
chairperson has the power to lead the meeting, set the agenda and determine the information to be provided, but all non-management directors
are encouraged to and do suggest topics for discussion and identify materials and other information for review. In addition, Tredegar s
independent members also meet as a group from time to time. The chairperson of the Nominating and Governance Committee chairs the
meetings of independent directors.

Shareholders and other interested persons may contact the non-management directors (as a group) or the chairman (individually) in
writing c/o Tredegar Corporation, 1100 Boulders Parkway, Richmond, Virginia, 23225, Attention: Corporate Secretary, or by submitting an
e-mail to directors @tredegar.com. All such correspondence will be forwarded to the intended recipients, although Tredegar screens mail for
security purposes.

-10-
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The following table provides an overview of the membership, responsibilities and number of meetings held in 2005 of all of the
committees of the Board. Each of the Audit Committee, Executive Compensation Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee
operates under a Charter approved by the Board. These Charters are available on Tredegar s websitewww.tredegar.com. Copies are also
available in print to any shareholder upon request by directing the request to Tredegar Corporation, 1100 Boulders Parkway, Richmond,
Virginia, 23225, Attention: Corporate Secretary. Each of the committees periodically reviews its respective committee Charter and, if
appropriate, recommends revisions thereto to the Board.

Number of
Committee and Members Functions* Meetings

AUDIT: Reviews and oversees financial reporting, policies, procedures and internal 8
Austin Brockenbrough, III controls
Donald T. Cowles
R. Gregory Williams™** Retains independent registered public accounting firm

Oversees activities of independent registered public accounting firm

Oversees internal audit function

Oversees legal and regulatory compliance and adherence to Tredegar s Code of

Conduct

Reviews related-party transactions

Receives from and discusses with independent registered public accounting

firm written disclosures as to independence

Prepares the audit committee report for inclusion in the annual proxy statement

Establishes procedures for complaints received regarding Tredegar s

accounting, internal accounting controls and auditing matters
EXECUTIVE Approves corporate goals and objectives relevant to CEO compensation and 3
COMPENSATION: evaluates the CEO s performance in light of those goals and objectives
Horst R. Adam
Donald T. Cowles Determines and approves CEO compensation, including base salary and
Richard L. Morrill** incentive awards

Approves the salaries and incentive awards of executive officers

Grants awards under Tredegar s equity incentive plans (other than the Directors
Stock Plan)

Prepares the compensation committee report on executive compensation for
inclusion in the annual proxy statement

* Tredegar recommends that shareholders review the Charters for the Audit Committee, the Executive Compensation Committee and the
Nominating and Governance Committee, available on Tredegar s website. www.tredegar.com, for a full description of the respective Committee s
responsibilities. Charters are also available in print, as noted above.

** Committee Chairperson

-11-

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION 16



Edgar Filing: TREDEGAR CORP - Form DEF 14A

Number of
Committee and Members Functions* Meetings

EXECUTIVE: Acts on the Board s behalf pursuant to Tredegar s By-laws, except as limited by 6
John D. Gottwald** the Virginia Stock Corporation Act and except with respect to the
William M. Gottwald compensation of executive officers
Norman A. Scher
INVESTMENT POLICY: Administers Tredegar s Investment Conflict of Interest Policy 0
Austin Brockenbrough, III**
Donald T. Cowles This Committee reviews and acts upon requests by directors, officers, and
Richard L. Morrill employees of Tredegar to (i) co-invest in investments being considered by

Tredegar or (ii) dispose of any such co-investment. No such requests were

received during 2005.
NOMINATING AND Reviews the size and composition of the Board to ensure a balance of 2
GOVERNANCE: appropriate skills and characteristics

Austin Brockenbrough, I1T#*
Richard L. Morrill
R. Gregory Williams

Develops criteria for director nominees

Recruits new directors, considers director nominees recommended by
shareholders and others and recommends nominees for election as directors, all
in accordance with the director selection criteria

Makes recommendations regarding term of office, classification and approves
compensation of directors, including the compensation of the Chairman and
any Vice Chairman

Reviews Tredegar s Code of Conduct, Governance Guidelines and other

governance matters, and makes sure policies are properly communicated and
consistently enforced

Makes recommendations regarding composition of Board committees
Recommends actions to increase Board s effectiveness

Oversees the evaluation of the Board and management

* Tredegar recommends that shareholders review the Charters for the Audit Committee, the Executive Compensation Committee and the

Nominating and Governance Committee, available on Tredegar s websitewww.tredegar.com, for a full description of the respective Committee s
responsibilities. Charters are also available in print, as noted above.

*# Committee Chairperson

-12-
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Audit Committee Matters

As noted above, Tredegar s Audit Committee currently consists of Messrs. R. Gregory Williams (Chairman), Austin Brockenbrough, I1I,
and Donald T. Cowles. The functions of the Audit Committee are more fully described under Report of the Audit Committee below and in the
Audit Committee Charter. Upon the recommendation of the Nominating and Governance Committee, the Board has determined that each of
Tredegar s Audit Committee members is independent of management and free of any relationships that, in the opinion of the Board, would
interfere with the exercise of independent judgment and is independent, as that term is defined under the enhanced independence standards for
audit committee members in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and rules thereunder, as amended, as incorporated into the listing standards of
the New York Stock Exchange and in accordance with Tredegar s Audit Committee Charter.

The Board has determined that Mr. R. Gregory Williams is an audit committee financial expert, as that term is defined in the rules
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The Board has further determined that
each of the members of the Audit Committee is financially literate and that, as required by the New York Stock Exchange listing standards, at
least one member of the Committee has accounting or related financial management expertise, as such terms are interpreted by the Board in its
business judgment.

The Audit Committee has adopted procedures for pre-approving certain audit and permissible non-audit services provided by Tredegar s
independent registered public accounting firm. These procedures include reviewing a budget for audit and permissible non-audit services. The
budget includes a description of, and a budgeted amount for, particular categories of audit and permissible non-audit services that are recurring
in nature and therefore anticipated at the time the budget is submitted. Audit Committee approval is required to exceed the budget amount for a
particular category of audit and permissible non-audit services and to engage the independent registered public accounting firm for any audit and
permissible non-audit services not included in the budget. For both types of pre-approval, the Audit Committee considers whether such services
are consistent with the Securities and Exchange Commission rules on auditor independence. The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval
authority to the Chairperson of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee periodically monitors the services rendered and actual fees paid to
the independent registered public accounting firm to ensure that such services are within the parameters approved by the Audit Committee.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee oversees the quality and integrity of Tredegar s financial reporting processes and its systems of internal accounting
controls. Management is responsible for Tredegar s financial statements, including its system of internal accounting controls, and the independent
registered public accounting firm is responsible for performing an independent audit of those financial statements and Tredegar s internal control
over financial reporting. The Audit Committee operates under a written Charter that has been adopted by Tredegar s Board.

The Audit Committee has met and held discussions with management and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP ( PwC ), Tredegar s independent
registered public accounting firm, regarding Tredegar s audited 2005 consolidated financial statements. Management represented to the Audit
Committee that Tredegar s consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and the
Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the consolidated financial statements with management and PwC.

-13-
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The Audit Committee has discussed with PwC the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61
(Codification of Statements on Auditing Standards), as amended. In addition, the Audit Committee has received the written disclosures and the
letter from PwC relating to the independence of that firm as required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence
Discussions with Audit Committees) as may be modified or supplemented, and has discussed with PwC that firm s independence from Tredegar.

In reliance upon the Audit Committee s discussions with management and PwC, and the Audit Committee s review of the representation of
management and the report of PwC to the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee recommended that the Board include the audited consolidated
financial statements in Tredegar s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Audit Committee:

R. Gregory Williams, Chairman
Austin Brockenbrough, III
Donald T. Cowles

March 1, 2006

AUDIT FEES

The following table lists fees billed to Tredegar by its independent registered public accounting firm, PwC, for services rendered in fiscal
years 2004 and 2005.

2004 2005
Audit Fees $ 1,666,160 $ 1,021,320
Audit-Related Fees -0- -0-
Tax Fees 28,636 -0-
All Other Fees 1,400 1,500
Total Fees $ 1,696,196 $ 1,022,820

Audit Fees include fees billed for services performed to comply with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(PCAOB), including the recurring audit of Tredegar s consolidated financial statements and of its internal control over financial reporting. This
category also includes fees for audits provided in connection with statutory filings or services that generally only the principal auditor reasonably
can provide and assistance with and review of documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Audit-Related Fees include fees associated with audit services not required by statute or regulation.

Tax Fees primarily include fees associated with tax audits, tax compliance, tax consulting, as well as domestic and international tax
planning and assistance.

-14-
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All Other Fees include software licensing for online accounting research.

The Audit Committee has concluded that the provision of the non-audit services listed above as All Other Fees is compatible with
maintaining the auditor s independence.

RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee has appointed PwC as Tredegar s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December
31, 2006, and has further directed that management submit such appointment of PwC for ratification by the shareholders at the annual meeting.
Representatives of PwC are expected to be present at the meeting, will have an opportunity to make a statement if they so desire and will be
available to respond to appropriate questions.

Shareholder ratification of the Audit Committee s appointment of PwC as Tredegar s independent registered public accounting firm is not
required by Tredegar s By-laws or otherwise. If the shareholders fail to ratify the appointment, the Audit Committee will take such failure into
consideration in future years. If the appointment is ratified, the Audit Committee, in its discretion, may direct the appointment of a different
independent registered public accounting firm at any time during the year if it is determined that#160;

8,750,000
Creditors Payable, Net of Current Portion
594,616
Total Non-Current Liabilities
16,241,684
13,449,961
Total Liabilities
20,791,915
20,940,192

Commitments & Contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock ($0.001 par value; 99,000,000 shares authorized and 17,336,226 issued and outstanding as of
September 30, 2013 and 16,301,946 as of December 31, 2012)

17,336
16,302
Additional Paid in Capital

33,462,473
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32,770,540
Accumulated Deficit
(14,356,369
)
(17,074,865
: Total Stockholders’ Equity
19,123,440
15,711,977
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
$
39,915,355
$
36,652,169
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
4
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Cross Border Resources, Inc.
Statements of Operations

Revenues

Oil and gas sales

Other — deferred revenue
Total revenues

Expenses:

Operating costs

Natural gas marketing and transportation expenses
Production taxes

Depreciation, depletion, amortization, and Impairment
Impairment of oil & gas properties

Loss on sale of oil and gas properties

Accretion expense

General and administrative

Total expense

Gain (loss) from operations

Other income (expense):
Gain (loss) on derivatives

Interest expense
Miscellaneous other income (expense)
Total other income (expense)

Income before income taxes

Current tax benefit
Deferred tax expense
Income tax expense
Net income (loss)

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic and diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2013 2012
$ 3,430,100 $ 2,811,224
3,430,100 2,811,224
532,443 715,012
16,750 —=
388,546 218,552
1,082,315 1,339,554
— 47,607
37,982 17,905
251,551 500,975
2,309,587 2,839,605
1,120,513 (28,381)
(304,858) (447,010)
(142,122) (135,112)
— 4,530
(446,980) (577,592)
673,533 (605,973)
(—) (194,828)
— 194,828
$ 673533 $ (605,973)
$ 0.04 $ (0.04)
17,336,226 16,151,946

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Cross Border Resources, Inc.
Statements of Operations

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2013 2012
Revenues
Oil and gas sales $10,224,147 $10,532,615
Other — deferred revenue — 32,479
Total revenues 10,224,147 10,565,094
Expenses:
Operating costs 1,865,199 1,695,239
Natural gas marketing and transportation expenses 65,890 —
Production taxes 783,141 747,510
Depreciation, depletion, amortization, and Impairment 3,876,954 2,875,612
Impairment of oil & gas properties — 1,775,796
Loss on sale of oil & gas properties 47,607
Accretion expense 109,684 52,146
General and administrative 847,677 2,733,965
Total expense 7,548,545 9,927,875
Gain from operations 2,675,602 637,219
Other income (expense):
Bond issuance amortization — (159,554)
Gain (loss) on derivatives (327,415) 514,901
Gain on settlement of debt 858,452 —
Interest expense (488,144) (404,039)
Miscellaneous other income — 8,402
Total other income (expense) 42,893 (40,290)
Income before income taxes 2,718,495 596,929
Current tax benefit (—) 89,973
Deferred tax expense — (89,973)
Income tax expense — —
Net income $ 2,718,495 $ 596,929
Net income per share:
Basic and diluted $ 0.16 $ 0.04
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted 17,112,700 16,151,946

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Cross Border Resources, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash used by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion, amortization, and impairment
Gain on Settlement of Creditors Liability

Gain on Conversion of Notes

Settlement of environmental liability

Accretion of asset retirement obligations

(Gain) loss on disposition of assets

Amortization of debt discount and deferred financing costs
Change in derivative instruments

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accounts payable — related party
Restricted Cash
Accrued expenses
Derivative asset/liability
Deferred income tax
Deferred revenue
Other current liabilities
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures - oil and gas properties
Proceeds from disposal of oil and gas properties

Capital expenditures - other assets
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of expenses
Borrowings on line of credit

Payments on line of credit

Repayments of bonds

Repayments to creditors

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2013 2012
$ 2,718,495 $ 596,929
3,876,954 4,619,650
(350,800) —
(485,416) —=
(13,167) —
109,684 52,146
47,607
(1,130) 218,631
(406,485)
140,051 0
1,228,431
369,380 1,333,249
(781,646) 314,870
— 370,578
(206,087) —
142,738 (532,506)
383,180 —
— (32,479)
— 503,773
5,902,236 5,857,532
(7,954,272) (10,913,119)
— 2,250,000
(7,954,272) (8,663,119)
12,200,000 7,119,000
(8,750,000) (750,000)
—  (3,395,000)
(660,911) (186,761)
2,789,089 2,787,239
737,053 (18,348)
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Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 241,561 472,967
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 978614 $ 454,619

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Interest paid $ 398,040 $ 309,631

Income taxes paid $ —3$ —
NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

Oil and natural gas properties included in accounts payable $ 0 $ 132,915

Oil and natural gas properties included in Accrued Expenses $ 0 $ —

Issuance of common stock to settle liability $ (692,967) $ —

Additions of ARO $ 26,740 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION 27



Edgar Filing: TREDEGAR CORP - Form DEF 14A

Cross Border Resources, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

1. Organization

Nature of Operations

The Company is an independent natural gas and oil company engaged in the exploration, development, exploitation,
and acquisition of natural gas and oil reserves in North America. The Company’s primary area of focus is the State of
New Mexico, particularly southeastern New Mexico. The Company has two wholly-owned subsidiaries, which are

inactive: Doral West Corporation and Pure Energy Operating, Inc, and accordingly are not consolidated in these
financial statements.

2. Going Concern

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a going concern.
These principles assume that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its obligations in the normal
course of operations for the foreseeable future.

At September 30, 2013, the Company had a working capital deficit of $403,614 and outstanding debt (consisting of a
line of credit) of $12,200,000. The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the
possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classifications of liabilities
that may result from the possible inability of the Company to continue as a going concern.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Reclassification

Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current period presentation. The amounts reclassified did
not have an effect on the Company’s results of operations or stockholders’ equity.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less
to be cash equivalents. At times, the amount of cash and cash equivalents on deposit in financial institutions exceeds
federally insured limits. The Company monitors the soundness of the financial institutions and believes the Company’s
risk is negligible.

Financial instruments

The carrying amounts of financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt, approximate fair value as of September 30, 2013 and December 31,
2012.

Oil and natural gas properties

The Company follows the successful efforts method of accounting for its oil and natural gas producing
activities. Costs to acquire mineral interests in oil and natural gas properties and to drill and equip development wells
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and related asset retirement costs are capitalized. Costs to drill exploratory wells are capitalized pending determination
of whether the wells have proved reserves. If the Company determines that the wells do not have proved reserves, the
costs are charged to expense. There were no exploratory wells capitalized pending determination of whether the wells
have proved reserves at December 31, 2012 or September 30, 2013. Geological and geophysical costs, including
seismic studies and costs of carrying and retaining unproved properties, are charged to expense as incurred. The
Company capitalizes interest on expenditures for significant exploration and development projects that last more than
six months while activities are in progress to bring the assets to their intended use. Through September 30, 2013, the
Company had capitalized no interest costs because its exploration and development projects generally lasted less than
six months. Costs incurred to maintain wells and related equipment are charged to expense as incurred.

On the sale or retirement of a complete unit of a proved property, the cost and related accumulated depreciation,
depletion and amortization are eliminated from the property accounts, and the resultant gain or loss is recognized. On
the retirement or sale of a partial unit of proved property, the cost is charged to accumulated depreciation, depletion
and amortization, with a resulting gain or loss recognized in income.

Capitalized amounts attributable to proved oil and natural gas properties are depleted by the unit-of-production
method over proved reserves using the unit conversion ratio of six Mcf of gas to one barrel of oil equivalent (“Boe”).
The ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Boe is based upon energy equivalency, rather than price equivalency. Given
current price differentials, the price for a Boe for natural gas differs significantly from the price for a barrel of oil.
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It is common for operators of oil and natural gas properties to request that joint interest owners pay for large
expenditures, typically for drilling new wells, in advance of the work commencing. This right to call for cash
advances is typically found in the operating agreement that joint interest owners in a property adopt. The Company
records these advance payments in prepaid and other current assets and release this account when the actual
expenditure is later billed to it by the operator.

On the sale of an entire interest in an unproved property for cash or cash equivalents, gain or loss on the sale is
recognized, taking into consideration the amount of any recorded impairment if the property had been assessed
individually. If a partial interest in an unproved property is sold, the amount received is treated as a reduction of the
cost of the interest retained.

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for potential impairment in their carrying values whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate such impairment may have occurred. Oil and natural gas properties are evaluated
for potential impairment by field. Other properties are evaluated for impairment on a specific asset basis or in groups
of similar assets, as applicable. An impairment on proved properties is recognized when the estimated undiscounted
future net cash flows of an asset are less than its carrying value. If an impairment occurs, the carrying value of the
impaired asset is reduced to its estimated fair value, which is generally estimated using a discounted cash flow
approach. If the results of an assessment indicate that the properties are impaired, the amount of the impairment is
added to the capitalized costs to be amortized.

Unproved oil and natural gas properties do not have producing properties. As reserves are proved through the
successful completion of exploratory wells, the cost is transferred to proved properties. The cost of the remaining
unproved basis is periodically evaluated by management to assess whether the value of a property has diminished. To
do this assessment, management considers estimated potential reserves and future net revenues from an independent
expert, the Company’s history in exploring the area, the Company’s future drilling plans per its capital drilling program
prepared by the Company’s reservoir engineers and operations management and other factors associated with the area.
Impairment is taken on the unproved property cost if it is determined that the costs are not likely to be recoverable.
The valuation is subjective and requires management to make estimates and assumptions which, with the passage of
time, may prove to be materially different from actual results.

Revenue and accounts receivable

The Company recognizes revenue for its production when the quantities are delivered to, or collected by, the
purchaser. Prices for such production are generally defined in sales contracts and are readily determinable based on
certain publicly available indices. All transportation costs are included in lease operating expense.

Accounts receivable—oil and natural gas sales consist of uncollateralized accrued revenues due under normal trade
terms, generally requiring payment within 30 to 60 days of production. Accounts receivable—other consist of amounts
owed from interest owners of the Company’s operated wells. No interest is charged on past-due balances. Payments
made on all accounts receivable are applied to the earliest unpaid items. The Company reviews accounts receivable
periodically and reduces the carrying amount by a valuation allowance that reflects its best estimate of the amount that
may not be collectible. There was no reserve for bad debts as of September 30, 2013 or December 31, 2012.

Other property
Furniture, fixtures and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation of furniture, fixtures and equipment is provided
using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives ranging from three to ten years. Gain or loss on retirement

or sale or other disposition of assets is included in income in the period of disposition.
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Income taxes

The Company is subject to U.S. federal income taxes along with state income taxes in Texas and New Mexico. When
tax returns are filed, it is highly certain that some positions taken would be sustained upon examination by the taxing
authorities, while others are subject to uncertainty about the merits of the position taken or the amount of the position
that would be ultimately sustained. The benefit of a tax position is recognized in the financial statements in the period
during which, based on all available evidence, management believes it is more likely than not that the position will be
sustained upon examination, including the resolution of appeals or litigation processes, if any. Tax positions taken are
not offset or aggregated with other positions. Tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold
are measured as the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement with
the applicable taxing authority. The portion of the benefits associated with tax positions taken that exceeds the amount
measured as described above is reflected as a liability for unrecognized tax benefits in the accompanying balance
sheet along with any associated interest and penalties that would be payable to the taxing authorities upon
examination. Interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits are classified as additional income taxes
in the Company’s Statements of Operations. The Company accrues interest and penalties, if any, related to
unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to the
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rate in effect for the year in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and
liabilities is recognized in income in the year of the enacted tax rate change. In addition, a valuation allowance is
established to reduce any deferred tax asset for which it is determined that it is more likely than not that some portion
of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Asset retirement obligations

Asset retirement obligations (“AROs”) associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets are recognized as
liabilities with an increase to the carrying amounts of the related long-lived assets in the period incurred. The cost of
the tangible asset, including the asset retirement cost, is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. AROs are
recorded at estimated fair value, measured by reference to the expected future cash outflows required to satisfy the
retirement obligations discounted at the Company’s credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate. Accretion expense is
recognized over time as the discounted liabilities are accreted to their expected settlement value. If estimated future
costs of AROs change, an adjustment is recorded to both the ARO and the long-lived asset. Revisions to estimated
AROs can result from changes in retirement cost estimates, revisions to estimated inflation rates and changes in the
estimated timing of abandonment.

Business combinations

We follow ASC 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”’), and ASC 810-10-65, Consolidation (“ASC 810-10-65"). ASC
805 requires most identifiable assets, liabilities, non-controlling interests, and goodwill acquired in a business
combination to be recorded at “fair value.” The statement applies to all business combinations, including combinations
among mutual entities and combinations by contract alone. Under ASC 805, all business combinations will be
accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Accordingly, transaction costs related to acquisitions are to be
recorded as a reduction of earnings in the period they are incurred and costs related to issuing debt or equity securities
that are related to the transaction will continue to be recognized in accordance with other applicable rules under U.S.
GAAP. ASC 810-10-65 requires non-controlling interests to be treated as a separate component of equity, not as a
liability or other item outside of permanent equity. The statement applies to the accounting for non-controlling
interests and transactions with non-controlling interest holders in consolidated financial statements.

Earnings per common share

The Company reports basic earnings per common share, which excludes the effect of potentially dilutive securities,
and diluted earnings per common share, which includes the effect of all potentially dilutive securities, unless their
impact is anti-dilutive.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

In May 2011, the FASB issued an accounting pronouncement related to fair value measurement (FASB ASC Topic
820), which amends current guidance to achieve common fair value measurement and disclosure requirements in U.S.
GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards. The amendments generally represent clarification of FASB
ASC Topic 820, but also include instances where a particular principle or requirement for measuring fair value or
disclosing information about fair value measurements has changed. This pronouncement is effective for fiscal years,
and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011. We adopted this pronouncement for our
fiscal year beginning January 1, 2012 and the adoption of this pronouncement did not have a material effect on our
financial statements.
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In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued new standards that require an entity to
disclose information about offsetting and related arrangements to enable users of its financial statements to understand
the effect of those arrangements on its financial position. The new standards are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2013. We are currently evaluating the provisions of the new standards and assessing the impact,
if any, it may have on our financial position and results of operations.
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4 — Asset retirement obligations

The following is a description of the changes to the Company’s asset retirement obligations for the periods ended
September 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012:

September ~ December

30, 31,
2013 2012
Asset retirement obligations at beginning of year $ 3,317,358 $ 1,186,260
Disposal of assets — (88,650)
Settlement of liabilities (1,284) (55,915)
Revision of previous estimates — 1,797,626
Accretion expense 109,684 94,556
Additions 28,024 383,481
Asset retirement obligations at end of period $ 3,453,782 $ 3,317,358
Less: current portion 455,515 452,013
Long-term portion $ 2,998,267 $ 2,865,345

5 — Property and equipment
Oil and natural gas properties

The following table sets forth the capitalized costs under the successful efforts method for oil and natural gas
properties:

September December
30, 31,
2013 2012
Oil and natural gas properties $55,245,214  $48,248,378
Less accumulated depletion and impairment (19,881,867) (16,018,892)
Net oil and natural gas properties capitalized costs $35,363,347  $32,229,486

Capitalized costs related to proved oil and natural gas properties, including wells and related equipment and facilities,
are evaluated for impairment based on the Company’s analysis of undiscounted future net cash flows. If undiscounted
future net cash flows are insufficient to recover the net capitalized costs related to proved properties, then the
Company recognizes an impairment charge in income equal to the difference between carrying value and the
estimated fair value of the properties. Estimated fair values are determined using discounted cash flow models. The
discounted cash flow models include management’s estimates of future oil and natural gas production, operating and
development costs, and discount rates.

Uncertainties affect the recoverability of these costs as the recovery of the costs outlined above are dependent upon
the Company obtaining and maintaining leases and achieving commercial production or sale.
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Other property and equipment

The historical cost of other property and equipment, presented on a gross basis with accumulated depreciation is
summarized as follows:

September ~ December

30, 31,
2013 2012
Other property and equipment $130,470 $130,470
Less accumulated depreciation 91,169 ) (77,190 )
Net property and equipment $39,301 $53,280

6 — Stockholders’ equity and earnings per share
2011 Equity Financing

On May 26, 2011, the Company closed a private offering exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933
pursuant to Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder. In the offering, the Company issued an aggregate of
3,600,000 units. Each unit was sold at $1.50 and was comprised of one share of common stock and one five-year
warrant to purchase a share of common stock at an exercise price of $2.25 per share. The warrants became
exercisable on November 26, 2011. The Company agreed to use the net proceeds from the sale of the units for general
business and working capital purposes and not to use such proceeds for the redemption of any common stock or
common stock equivalents.

11
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The investors in the offering (“Selling Stockholders”) received registration rights. The Company agreed to file a
registration statement covering the resale of the common stock issued and the common stock underlying the warrants
issued to the Selling Stockholders within sixty days after the closing date. If the registration statement was not
declared effective by the SEC within the time periods defined within the agreement, then the Company would have
made pro rata cash payments to each Selling Stockholder as liquidated damages in an amount equal to 1.0% of the
aggregate amount invested by such Selling Stockholder for each 30-day period or pro rata for any portion thereof
following the date by which such Registration Statement should have been effective. If at the time of exercise of the
warrants there is no effective registration statement covering the resale of the shares underlying the warrant, then the
Selling Stockholders have the right at such time to exercise warrants in full or in part on a cashless basis. The
Company filed an S-1 registration statement registering the shares on July 25, 2011, which was declared effective on
August 5, 2011.

In addition to registration rights, the Selling Stockholders were offered a right of first refusal to participate in future
offerings of common stock if the principal purpose of which was to raise capital. This right of first refusal terminated
upon the one-year anniversary of the closing date.

Warrants

In connection with the equity offering closed on May 26, 2011, the Company issued warrants to purchase an

aggregate of 3,600,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a per share price of $2.25 (the "$2.25
Warrants"). The Company also has outstanding warrants to purchase 3,125 shares of the Company’s common stock at
a per share price of $5.00. The $2.25 Warrants became exercisable in November 2011 and expire in November

2015. On the date of issuance, the warrants were valued at $898,384. Management determined the fair value of the

warrants based upon the Black-Scholes option model with a volatility based on the historical closing price of common

stock of industry peers and the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the OTCBB on the date of issuance.
The volatility and remaining term was 50% and 2.92 years, respectively. The Company does not expect the immediate

exercise of these warrants as the exercise price exceeds the average closing market price for the Company's common

stock. Furthermore, no assurances can be made that any of the warrants will ever be exercised for cash or at all.

Issuance of Shares to Former Executive

On November 7, 2012, the Company issued 150,000 shares (the “Shares”) of its common stock to Everett Willard Gray
I1, in full satisfaction of any remaining amounts owed to Mr. Gray by the Company pursuant to Mr. Gray’s
employment agreement with the Company, dated as of January 31, 2011 and amended as of March 6, 2012 and April
20, 2012 (as amended, the “Employment Agreement”). Mr. Gray resigned as the Company’s Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer effective May 31, 2012 in connection with the transactions described in the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 24, 2012. The Employment Agreement provided for him to receive severance
payments of $478,298, payable in installments, of which $239,149 remained to be paid, which was satisfied by the
issuance of the 150,000 shares.

Stock Options

In 2011, the Company issued options to purchase 87,500 shares of its common stock at $4.80 to its directors. For the
year ended December 31, 2012 and the nine months ended September 30, 2013, there was no stock based
compensation.

Stock option activity summary is presented in the table below:
Weighted-
average
Weighted- Remaining
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Outstanding at December 31, 2011
Granted
Cancelled
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2012
Granted
Cancelled
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2013

12

average Contractual

Number of Exercise Term

Shares Price (years)
87,500 $4.80 4.08
87,500 4.80 3.08
87,500 $4.80 3.83
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There is no intrinsic value in the outstanding options since the option price is in excess of the market price of the
Company's common stock.

The fair value of the options granted during 2011 was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following assumptions:

Closing market price of stock on grant date $3.11
Risk-free interest rate 2.43%
Dividend yield 0.00%
Volatility factor 50%
Expected life 2.5 years

The Company elected to use the “simplified” method to calculate the estimated life of options granted to
employees. The use of the “simplified” method has been extended until such time when the Company has sufficient
information to make more refined estimates on the estimated life of its options. The expected stock price volatility was
calculated by averaging the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock over a term equal to the expected life
of the options.

Issuance of Common Shares to Settle Creditors Payable

As described in Note 9, the Company entered into settlement agreements with two of the creditors payable
arising out of the 2002 bankruptcy. The Company paid the creditors $633,975 in cash and the Company’s largest
shareholder, Red Mountain Resources, Inc. (“RMR”), issued approximately 750,000 shares of its common stock to the
creditors in settlement of the claims. In return for RMR issuing its shares to the creditors payable, the Company
issued RMR 422,650 shares of its common stock.

Conversion of Notes Payable

On February 28, 2013, RMR, the holder of the Green Shoe and Little Bay notes, elected to convert the
outstanding notes and accrued interest into common shares. The board of directors of the Company had previously
resolved to change the conversion feature from $4.00 per common share to $1.50 per common share. As a result, the
Company issued 611,630 common shares to RMR.

7 — Related party transactions

On April 11, 2012, the Company advanced its then Chief Executive Officer, E. Willard Gray, II, $119,575 related to
the change in control provisions in Mr. Gray's employment agreement. At September 30, 2012, $42,070 remained
outstanding (shown as Accounts receivable - related party on the Balance Sheet), which was deducted from the second
change of control payment to him from the Company in July 2012.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, RMR incurred approximately $628,274 for general and administrative
expenses and operating costs that will be reimbursed by the Company for accounting services and attendance of
certain of the Company’s directors and officers at the Company’s annual meeting of stockholders and for costs
associated with workovers on three of the Company’s salt water disposal wells, of which $215,495 remained unpaid at
December 31, 2012. The expenditures pertaining to the operating costs were incurred pursuant to a technical services
agreement between the Company and RMR. During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, RMR incurred
approximately $1,830,006 of such expenditures (including a $900,000 cash advance), $1,830,006 of which remained
unpaid at September 30, 2013.

8 — Long term debt
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Notes Payable Green Shoe Investments — Related Party

In connection with the January 2011 merger, the Company, as the accounting acquirer, assumed an unsecured loan
from Green Shoe Investments Ltd. (“Green Shoe”) in the principal amount of $487,000 at an interest rate of 5.0%

On April 26, 2011, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with Green Shoe, and the Company executed and
delivered a Promissory Note to Green Shoe in connection therewith. The amount of the Promissory Note and the loan
from Green Shoe (the “Green Shoe Loan”) was $550,936 and the purpose of the Green Shoe Loan was to consolidate
and extend all of the loans owed by the Company and its predecessors to Green Shoe including without limitation the
following: (i) loan dated May 9, 2008 in the principal amount of $100,000, (ii) loan dated May 23, 2008 in the
principal amount of $150,000, (iii) loan dated July 18, 2008 in the principal amount of $50,000, (iv) loan dated
February 24, 2009 in the principal amount of $100,000, and (v) loan dated April 29, 2009 in the principal amount of
$87,000 plus accrued interest of $63,936. The Green Shoe Loan was unsecured.

13
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Beginning March 31, 2011 (the effective date of the Promissory Note), the amounts owed under the Promissory Note
began to accrue interest at a rate of 9.99%, and the Promissory Note provided that no payments of principal or interest
were due until the maturity date of September 30, 2012. The Company is obligated to pay all accrued interest and
make a principal payment equal to one-third of the principal owed upon the closing of an equity offering resulting in a
specified amount of net proceeds to the Company. In addition, Green Shoe was granted the right to convert the
principal and interest owed into shares of common stock of the Company at a conversion price of $4.00 per share. The
principal balance of the note as of September 30, 2012 was $367,309.

The debt and associated accrued interest were not repaid at maturity on September 30, 2012. On October 22,
2012, the Company received notice from the lender’s counsel that it would be considered in default on the note
beginning November 1, 2012 if the note and accrued interest were not paid in full. From November 1, 2012, the note
began to accrue interest at the default rate of 18%. On November 30, 2012, Jackson Street Investors, LLC purchased
the note from Green Shoe Investments. Subsequently, on December 12, 2012, RMR purchased the note from Jackson
Street Investors, LLC. As of December 31, 2012, the note had a principal balance of $367,309 and an accrued interest
balance of $62,924.

On February 28, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a resolution to modify the terms of the note so
that the conversion price was reduced from $4.00 to $1.50 per share. On February 28, 2013, RMR converted the
principal balance of $367,309 and accrued interest balance of $73,611 into 293,947 shares of the Company’s common
stock.

Notes Payable Little Bay Consulting — Related Party

In connection with the January 2011 merger, the Company, as the accounting acquirer, assumed an unsecured loan
from Little Bay Consulting SA (“Little Bay”) in the principal amount of $520,000 at an interest rate of 5%.

On April 26, 2011, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with Little Bay, and the Company executed and
delivered a Promissory Note to Little Bay in connection therewith. The amount of the Promissory Note and the loan
from Little Bay (the “Little Bay Loan”) was $595,423 and the purpose of the Little Bay Loan was to consolidate and
extend all of the loans owed by the Company and its predecessors to Little Bay including without limitation the
following: (i) loan dated March 7, 2008 in the original principal amount of $220,000, (ii) loan dated July 18, 2008 in
the original principal amount of $100,000, and (iii) loan dated October 3, 2008 in the principal amount of $200,000
plus accrued interest of $75,423. The Little Bay Loan was unsecured.

Beginning March 31, 2011 (the effective date of the Promissory Note), the amounts owed under the Promissory Note
began to accrue interest at a rate of 9.99%, and the Promissory Note provided that no payments of principal or interest
were due until the maturity date of September 30, 2012. The Company is obligated to pay all accrued interest and
make a principal payment equal to one-third of the principal owed upon the closing of an equity offering resulting in a
specified amount of net proceeds to the Company. In addition, Little Bay was granted the right to convert the
principal and interest owed into shares of common stock of the Company at a conversion price of $4.00 per share. The
principal balance of the note as of September 30, 2012 is $396,969.

The debt and associated accrued interest were not repaid at maturity on September 30, 2012. On October 22,
2012, the Company received notice from the lender’s counsel that it would be considered in default on the note
beginning November 1, 2012 if the note and accrued interest were not paid in full. From November 1, 2012, the note
began to accrue interest at the default rate of 18%. On November 30, 2012, Jackson Street Investors, LLC purchased
the note from Little Bay Consulting, S.A. Subsequently, on December 12, 2012, RMR purchased the note from
Jackson Street Investors, LLC. As of December 31, 2012, the note had a principal balance of $396,969 and an
accrued interest balance of $68,005.
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On February 28, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a resolution to modify the terms of the note so
that the conversion price was reduced from $4.00 to $1.50 per share. On February 28, 2013, RMR converted the
principal balance of $396,969 and accrued interest balance of $79,555 into 317,683 shares of the Company’s common
stock.

Operating Line of Credit

As of December 31, 2011, the borrowing base on the Texas Capital Bank (“TCB”) line of credit was
$4,500,000. Effective March 1, 2012, the borrowing base was increased to $9,500,000. The interest rate was
calculated at the greater of the adjusted base rate or 4%. The line of credit is collateralized by producing wells and was
set to mature on January 14, 2014. As a result of the sale of certain interests in oil and gas properties, effective
August 1, 2012, the borrowing base was reduced by $750,000 and that amount was repaid to TCB out of the sale
proceeds.

On February 5, 2013, the Company entered into a Senior First Lien Secured Credit Agreement with RMR, Black Rock
Capital, Inc. and RMR Operating, LLC and Independent Bank, as Lender. RMR owns approximately 81% of the
outstanding common stock of Cross Border and Black Rock and RMR Operating are wholly owned subsidiaries of
RMR. On February 5, 2013, the Company drew $8,900,000 on the line of credit and used those funds to pay off the
line of credit and associated accrued interest. On February 29, 2013, the Company drew $2,000,000 and on May 24,
2013, the Company drew a further $1,300,000 on the line of credit and used those funds to pay accounts payable
related to the drilling program. As of September 30, 2013, the Credit Agreement balance was $12,200,000, leaving
$7,800,000 available.
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The borrowing base under the Credit Facility is determined at the discretion of the Lender based on, among other
things, the Lender’s estimated value of the proved reserves attributable to the Borrowers’ oil and natural gas properties
that have been mortgaged to the Lender, and is subject to regular redeterminations on September 30 and March 31 of
each year, and interim redeterminations described in the Credit Agreement and potentially monthly commitment
reductions, in each case which may reduce the amount of the borrowing base. As of September 30, 2013, the
borrowing base was $30,000,000 million, leaving $17,800,000 of availability.

9 — Creditors payable

In 2002, the prior owner of Pure Sub filed a petition for reorganization with the United States Bankruptcy
Court. According to the plan of reorganization, three creditors were to receive a combined amount of approximately
$3,000,000 for their claims out of future net revenues of Pure Sub (defined as revenues from producing wells net of
lease operating expenses and other direct costs).

On February 28, 2013, the Company entered into settlement agreements with two of the creditors. Under the
agreement, one creditor with a balance of $608,727 as of December 31, 2012 was paid $304,363 in cash and the
Company arranged for its largest shareholder, RMR, to issue the creditor 358,075 shares of RMR’s common
stock. The other creditor with a balance of $659,224 as of December 31, 2012 was paid $329,612 and the Company
arranged for RMR to issue the creditor 387,779 shares of RMR’s common stock.

10 — Commitments and contingencies
Litigation

On May 4, 2011, Clifton M. (Marty) Bloodworth filed a lawsuit in the State District Court of Midland County, Texas,
against Doral West Corp. d/b/a Doral Energy Corp. and Everett Willard Gray II. Mr. Bloodworth alleges that Mr.
Gray, as CEO of the Company, made false representations which induced Mr. Bloodworth to enter into an
employment contract that was subsequently breached by the Company. The claims that Mr. Bloodworth has alleged
are: breach of his employment agreement with Doral, common law fraud, civil conspiracy breach of fiduciary duty,
and violation of the Texas Deceptive Trade Practices-Consumer Protection Act. Mr. Bloodworth is seeking damages
of approximately $280,000. Mr. Gray and the Company deny that Mr. Bloodworth’s claims have any merit.

The Company was previously party to an engagement letter, dated February 7, 2012 (the "Engagement Letter"), with
KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc. ("KeyBanc") pursuant to which KeyBanc was to act as exclusive financial advisor to
the Company’s Board of Directors in connection with a possible "Transaction" (as defined in the Engagement
Letter). The Engagement Letter was formally terminated by the Company on August 21, 2012. The Engagement
Letter provided that KeyBanc would be entitled to a fee upon consummation of a Transaction within a certain period
of time following termination of the Engagement Letter. On May 16, 2013, KeyBanc delivered an invoice to the
Company in the amount of $751,334, representing amounts purportedly owed by the Company to KeyBanc as a result
of the consummation of a purported Transaction KeyBanc asserts had been consummated within the required time
period and its out-of-pocket expenses in connection therewith. The Company disputes that any Transaction was
consummated and that KeyBanc is entitled to any out-of-pocket expenses. The matter was originally filed in the
44th-B Judicial District Court for the State of Texas, Dallas County but was subsequently removed to the United
States District Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division. The Company intends to vigorously defend
the action.

Environmental Contingencies

The Company is subject to federal and state laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment.
Environmental risk is inherent to oil and natural gas operations and the Company could be subject to environmental
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cleanup and enforcement actions. The Company manages this environmental risk through appropriate environmental
policies and practices to minimize the impact to the Company.

As of September 30, 2013, the Company had approximately $2,100,000 in environmental liabilities related to its
operated Tom Tom Tomahawk field located in Chaves and Roosevelt counties New Mexico. In February 2013, the
Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) accepted the Company’s remediation plan for the Tom Tom and Tomahawk
fields. The Company is working in conjunction with the BLM to initiate remediation on a site-by-site basis. This is
management’s best estimate of the costs of remediation and restoration with respect to these environmental matters,
although the ultimate cost could differ materially. Inherent uncertainties exist in these estimates due to unknown
conditions, changing governmental regulation, and legal standards regarding liability, and emerging remediation
technologies for handling site remediation and restoration. The Company expects to incur these expenditures over a
twenty-four month period beginning in September 2013.
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11 — Price risk management activities

ASC 815-25 (formerly SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”) requires that all
derivative instruments be recorded on the balance sheet at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of each derivative
are recorded each period in current earnings or other comprehensive income, depending on whether the derivative is
designated as part of a hedge transaction and, if it is, the type of hedge transaction. When choosing to designate a
derivative as a hedge, management formally documents the hedging relationship and its risk-management objective
and strategy for undertaking the hedge, the hedging instrument, the item, the nature of the risk being hedged, how the
hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the hedged risk will be assessed, and a description of the method of
measuring effectiveness. This process includes linking all derivatives that are designated as cash-flow hedges to
specific cash flows associated with assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific forecasted transactions.
Based on the above, management has determined the swaps noted below do not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment.

At September 30, 2013, the Company had a net derivative liability of $92,392, as compared to a net derivative asset of
$290,788 at December 31, 2012. The change in net derivative asset/liability is recorded as non-cash mark-to-market
income or loss. Mark-to-market losses of $338,114 were recorded in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 as
compared to mark-to-market income of $245,722 during the twelve months ended December 31, 2012. Net realized
hedge settlement gain for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was $10,699 as compared to net realized hedge
settlement gain of $317,593 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2012. The combination of these two
components of derivative expense/income is reflected in "Other Income (Expense)" on the Statements of Operations
as "Gain (loss) on derivatives."

As of September 30, 2013, the Company had crude oil swaps in place relating to a total of 3,000 Bbls per month, as
follows:

Fair Value of Outstanding
Derivative Contracts (1)

Price Volumes as of
September
Transaction Per Per 30, December
Date Type Beginning Ending Unit Month 2013 31,2012
(2)

March 2011 Swap 04/01/2011 02/28/2013 $104.55 1,000 $ —3 41,019
November Swap 12/01/2011 11/30/2014 $93.50 2,000 — 44,942
2011
February Swap 03/01/2012 02/28/2014 $106.50 1,000 — 204,827
2012
February Swap 03/01/2013 11/01/2014 $93.50 2,000 (29,486) —
2013
February Swap 03/01/2013 02/01/2014 $106.50 1,000 121,878 —-
2013

$ 92,392 $ 290,788

(1) The fair value of the Company's outstanding transactions is presented on the balance sheet by
counterparty. Currently all of our derivatives are with the same counterparty. The balance is shown as
current or long-term based on our estimate of the amounts that will be due in the relevant time periods
at currently predicted price levels. Amounts in parentheses indicate liabilities.
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(2) These crude oil hedges were entered into on a per barrel delivered price basis, using the NYMEX -
West Texas Intermediate Index, with settlement for each calendar month occurring following the
expiration date, as determined by the contracts.

12 — Fair Value Measurements

Fair value measurements are based upon inputs that market participants use in pricing an asset or liability, which are

classified into two categories: observable inputs and unobservable inputs. Observable inputs represent market data

obtained from independent sources, whereas unobservable inputs reflect a company’s own market assumptions, which
are used if observable inputs are not reasonably available without undue cost and effort. These two types of inputs are

further prioritized into the following fair value input hierarchy:

Level 1 — quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2 — quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or
similar ~ assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices
that are observable for the asset or liability (e.g. interest rates) and inputs derived principally
from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3—  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The fair value input hierarchy level to which an asset or liability measurement in its entirety falls is determined based

on the lowest level input that is significant to the measurement in its entirety.
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The following tables summarize the valuation of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at September 30, 2013

and December 31, 2012:

Assets:
Commodities derivatives
Total
Liabilities
Environmental liability
Asset retirement obligations (non-recurring)
Commodities Derivative
Total

(in thousands)
Assets:

Commodities derivatives
Total

Liabilities:

Environmental liability

Asset retirement obligations (non-recurring)
Total

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted
Prices
in Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets
or
Liabilities
(Level 1)

Significant
or
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

$3,504
$3,504

$—
$—
$(95,896
$(95,896

Significant

Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

$ —
$ —

Fair Value
at
September
30,
2013

$3,504
$3,504

$ (2,086,833 ) $(2,086,833)
$ (3,453,782 ) $(3,453,782)

) $ —
) $ (5,540,615 ) $(5,636,511)

$$(95,896 )

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using

Quoted
Prices
in Active
Markets
for
Identical
Assets
or
Liabilities
(Level 1)

$—
$—

$—

$—

Significant
or
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

$290,788
$290,788

$—

$—

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

$ —
$ —

$ (2,100,000 )
(3,317,358 )
$ (5,417,358 )

Fair Value
at December
31,
2012

$ 290,788
$ 290,788

$ (2,100,000 )
(3,317,358)
$ (5,417,358 )

The following is a summary of changes to fair value measurements using Level 3 inputs during the three months

ended September 30, 2013:

Balance, December 31, 2012
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$ 2,100,000
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Acquisitions —
Settlement of liabilities 13,167
Revisions of previous estimates —
Balance, September 30, 2013 $ 2,086,833
17
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Our Company

We are an oil and gas exploration and development company. We currently own over 865,893 gross (approximately
293,843 net) mineral and lease acres in New Mexico. Approximately 25,000 of these net acres exist within the
Permian Basin. A significant majority of our acreage consists of either owned mineral rights or leases held by
production. The majority of our acreage interests consists of non-operated working interests except for certain core
San Andres properties which we operate.

Current development of our acreage is focused on our prospective Bone Spring acreage located in the heart of the 1st
and 2nd Bone Spring play. This play encompasses approximately 4,390 square miles across both New Mexico and
Texas. We currently own varying, non-operated working interests in both Eddy and Lea Counties, New Mexico, along
with our working interest partners that include Cimarex, Apache, Oxy Permian, Occidental, Oxy USA and,
Mewbourne; all having significant footprints within this play, and are adding to those footprints through lease and
corporate acquisitions.

History

We were originally formed on October 25, 2005 under the name “Language Enterprises Corp.” We subsequently
changed our name to Doral Energy Corp. On July 29, 2008, we acquired a working interest in 66 producing oil fields
and approximately 186 wells (the “Eddy County Properties”) in and around Eddy County, New Mexico. As a result of
our acquisition of the Eddy County Properties, we changed our business focus to the acquisition, exploration,
operation and development of oil and gas projects, and we ceased being a “shell company.” On August 4, 2008, we filed
our Form 8-K that included the information that would be required if we were filing a general form for registration of
securities on Form 10 as a smaller reporting company.

Effective January 3, 2011, we completed the acquisition of Pure Energy Group, Inc. as contemplated pursuant to the
Pure Merger Agreement among our company, Doral Sub, Pure L.P. and Pure Sub, a wholly owned subsidiary of Pure
L.P. Pursuant to the provisions of the Pure Merger Agreement, all of Pure L.P.’s oil and gas assets and liabilities were
transferred to Pure Sub. Pure Sub was then merged with and into Doral Sub, with Doral Sub continuing as the
surviving corporation. Upon completion of the Pure Merger, the outstanding shares of Pure Sub were converted into
an aggregate of 9,981,536 shares of our common stock. Since the Pure Merger, Pure L.P. has distributed all of its
shares of our common stock to the partners of Pure L.P. so that Pure L.P. is no longer a shareholder of our company.

Effective January 4, 2011, following closing of the Pure Merger, Doral Sub was merged with and into our company,
with our company continuing as the surviving corporation. Upon completing the merger of Doral Sub with and into
our company, we changed our name to “Cross Border Resources, Inc.”

On January 28, 2013, Red Mountain Resources, Inc. closed the acquisition of 5,091,210 shares of our common,
bringing its total ownership to approximately 78% of the outstanding common stock of the company. Prior to the
acquisition, Red Mountain Resources, Inc. owned 47% of our outstanding common stock. As of the date of this
report, Red Mountain Resources, Inc. owns approximately 83% of our outstanding common stock. As a result of that
transaction, our results are consolidated in Red Mountain Resources, Inc.’s financial statements.

Third Quarter 2013 Operational Update
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In the nine months ended 9/30/2013, Cross Border completed 18 gross wells (1.52 net). These included 6 horizontal
Bone Spring wells (0.91 net), 3 horizontal Glorieta-Yeso wells (0.17 net), 8 vertical Glorieta-Yeso wells (0.38 net),
and 1 vertical Queen-Grayburg-San Andrew well (0.06 net). Also during the period, we received approval to begin
remediation work and field redevelopment in the Tom Tom area. The first work was performed in May. At the end of
the third quarter, several workovers had been completed, including 2 recompletions that added new zones to
production.

Planned Operations

In the remainder of 2013, we plan to spend between $2 and $3 million to drill and complete wells, re-enter and
complete wells, or improve infrastructure. Our main area of focus is the Tom Tom area, where work will continue to
remediate the field and improve production from existing wells. In the fourth quarter this includes the re-entry of 2
additional wells and improvement to the field infrastructure. In our non-operated prospect areas, we are committed to
participating in the drilling of 4 gross (0.52 net), and we expect to receive some additional well proposals before the
end of fiscal 2013. We expect to finance these activities with cash flow generated from operations and availability
under our line of credit with Independent Bank.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The preparation
of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosures. Our significant accounting policies are described
in “Note 3—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to our financial statements included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. We have identified below policies that are of particular importance to the portrayal of our financial
position and results of operations and which require the application of significant judgment by management. These
estimates are based on historical experience, information received from third parties, and on various other assumptions
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies affect the significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our financial statements.

Oil and Gas Properties

We follow the successful efforts method of accounting for our oil and natural gas producing activities. Costs to
acquire mineral interests in oil and natural gas properties and to drill and equip development wells and related asset
retirement costs are capitalized. Costs to drill exploratory wells are capitalized pending determination of whether the
wells have proved reserves. If we determine that the wells do not have proved reserves, the costs are charged to
expense. There were no exploratory wells capitalized pending determination of whether the wells have proved
reserves at September 30, 2013 or December 31, 2012. Geological and geophysical costs, including seismic studies
and costs of carrying and retaining unproved properties, are charged to expense as incurred. We capitalize interest on
expenditures for significant exploration and development projects that last more than six months while activities are in
progress to bring the assets to their intended use. Through December 31, 2012, we had capitalized no interest costs
because our exploration and development projects generally lasted less than six months. Costs incurred to maintain
wells and related equipment are charged to expense as incurred.

On the sale or retirement of a complete unit of a proved property, the cost and related accumulated depreciation,
depletion and amortization are eliminated from the property accounts, and the resultant gain or loss is recognized. On
the retirement or sale of a partial unit of proved property, the cost is charged to accumulated depreciation, depletion
and amortization, with a resulting gain or loss recognized in income.

Capitalized amounts attributable to proved oil and natural gas properties are depleted by the unit-of-production
method over proved reserves using the unit conversion ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Boe. The ratio of six Mcf
of natural gas to one Boe is based on energy equivalency, rather than price equivalency. Given current price
differentials, the price for a Boe for natural gas differs significantly from the price for a barrel of oil.

It is common for operators of oil and natural gas properties to request that joint interest owners pay for large
expenditures, typically for drilling new wells, in advance of the work commencing. This right to call for cash
advances is typically found in the operating agreement that joint interest owners in a property adopt. We record these
advance payments in prepaid and other current assets in its property account and release this account when the actual
expenditure is later billed to it by the operator.
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On the sale of an entire interest in an unproved property for cash or cash equivalents, gain or loss on the sale is
recognized, taking into consideration the amount of any recorded impairment if the property had been assessed
individually. If a partial interest in an unproved property is sold, the amount received is treated as a reduction of the
cost of the interest retained.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate our long-lived assets for potential impairment in their carrying values whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate such impairment may have occurred. Oil and natural gas properties are evaluated for potential
impairment by field. Other properties are evaluated for impairment on a specific asset basis or in groups of similar
assets, as applicable. An impairment on proved properties is recognized when the estimated undiscounted future net
cash flows of an asset are less than its carrying value. If an impairment occurs, the carrying value of the impaired asset
is reduced to its estimated fair value, which is generally estimated using a discounted cash flow approach. If the
results of an assessment indicate that the properties are impaired, the amount of the impairment is added to the
capitalized costs to be amortized.

Unproved oil and natural gas properties do not have producing properties. As reserves are proved through the
successful completion of exploratory wells, the cost is transferred to proved properties. The cost of the remaining
unproved basis is periodically evaluated by management to assess whether the value of a property has diminished. To
do this assessment, management considers estimated potential reserves and future net revenues from an independent
expert, our history in exploring the area, our future drilling plans per our capital drilling program prepared by our
reservoir engineers and operations management and other factors associated with the area. Impairment is taken on the
unproved property cost if it is determined that the costs are not likely to be recoverable. The valuation is subjective
and requires management to make estimates and assumptions which, with the passage of time, may prove to be
materially different from actual results.
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In the second quarter of 2012, the Company determined to sale its Wolfberry assets located in Texas. As a result of
that decision, management conducted an impairment evaluation of those assets which resulted in a non cash
impairment charge of approximately $1,776,000.

Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2012, management conducted an impairment evaluation of its proved and
unproved oil and natural gas properties. As a result of the evaluation, management recorded a non cash impairment
charge of approximately $1,208,000, primarily related to a decline in the value of proved reserves.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2011, the FASB issued an accounting pronouncement related to fair value measurement (FASB ASC Topic
820), which amends current guidance to achieve common fair value measurement and disclosure requirements in U.S.
GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards. The amendments generally represent clarification of FASB
ASC Topic 820, but also include instances where a particular principle or requirement for measuring fair value or
disclosing information about fair value measurements has changed. This pronouncement is effective for fiscal years,
and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2011. We adopted this pronouncement for our
fiscal year beginning January 1, 2012 and the adoption of this pronouncement did not have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued new standards that require an entity to
disclose information about offsetting and related arrangements to enable users of its financial statements to understand
the effect of those arrangements on its financial position. The new standards are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2013. We are currently evaluating the provisions of the new standards and assessing the impact,
if any, it may have on our financial position and results of operations.

In January 2010, the FASB issued new standards intended to improve disclosures about fair value measurements. The
new standards require details of transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and the gross
presentation of activity within the Level 3 fair value measurement roll forward. The new disclosures are required of all
entities that are required to provide disclosures about recurring and nonrecurring fair value measurements. We adopted
these new rules effective January 1, 2010.

Results of Operations
Three Months Ended September 30, 2013 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2012

The following table sets forth summary information regarding our oil and natural gas sales, net production sold,
average sales prices and production costs and expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2013 2012
(dollars in thousands, except per unit prices)
Revenue
Total Sales $ 3,430,100 $ 2,811,224
Salt Water Disposal Sales 16,470 0
Oil and Natural Gas Sales 3,413,145 2,811,224
Net Production sold
Oil (Bbl) 31,329 30,634
Natural gas (Mcf) 85,428 59,342
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Total (Boe)
Total (Boe/d) (1)

Average sales prices

Oil ($/Bbl)

Natural gas ($/Mcf)

Total average price ($/Boe)

Costs and expenses (per Boe)

Operating costs and marketing

Production taxes

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization
Accretion of discount on asset retirement obligation
General and administrative expense

Form DEF 14A

45,567
495

$ 96.05
3.75
$ 74.90

$ 12.05
8.53

23.75

0.83

5.52

(1) Boe/d is calculated based on actual calendar days during the period.
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40,524
440

82.19
2.88
74.65

10.79
5.39
33.06
0.44
12.36
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Three months Revenues and Sales Volumes

Oil and Natural Gas Sales Volumes. During the three months ended September 30, 2013, we had total sales volumes
of 45,567 Boe, compared to total sales volumes of 40,524 Boe during the three months ended September 30, 2012.
This increase is primarily attributable to the bringing online of new oil and gas wells in 2013, partially offset by
natural production declines for existing wells.

Oil and Natural Gas Sales. During the three months ended September 30, 2013, we had oil and natural gas sales of
$3.4 million, as compared to $2.8 million during the three months ended September 30, 2012. This increase is
primarily attributable to the bringing online of new oil and gas wells in 2013, partially offset by natural production
declines for existing wells.

Costs and Expenses

Operating Costs. During the quarter ended September 30, 2013, we incurred operating costs of $0.5 million, as
compared to $0.7 million during the quarter ended September 30, 2012.

Production Taxes. Production taxes were $0.4 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, as compared to $0.2
million for the quarter ended September 30, 2012.

Depreciation, Depletion, Amortization and Impairment. For the quarter ended September 30, 2013, depreciation,
depletion, amortization, and impairment was $1.1 million, as compared to $1.3 million for the quarter ended
September 30, 2012.

General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense was $0.3 million for the quarter ended
September 30, 2012, as compared to $.5 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2012. The decrease was a result
of personnel costs, change of control expenses, and professional fees being lower in the three months ended
September 30, 2013 as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2012.

Other Expense / Income. Other expense was $0.5 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, as compared to
income of $0.6 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2012. The decrease in income is due to non-cash losses
on derivatives contracts.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2013 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2012

The following table sets forth summary information regarding our oil and natural gas sales, net production sold,
average sales prices and production costs and expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and 2012.

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2013 2012
(dollars in thousands, except per unit prices)
Revenue
Total Sales $10,224,147 $10,532,615
Salt Water Disposal Sales 158,288 0
Oil and Natural Gas Sales 10,065,859 10,532,615
Net Production sold
Oil (Bbl) 94,957 105,155
Natural gas (Mcf) 231,420 172,833
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Total (Boe)
Total (Boe/d) (1)

Average sales prices

Oil ($/Bbl)

Natural gas ($/Mcf)

Total average price ($/Boe)

Costs and expenses (per Boe)

Operating costs

Production taxes

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization
Accretion of discount on asset retirement obligation
General and administrative expense

Form DEF 14A

133,527
489

$ 92.27
4.96
$ 75.32

$ 13.97
5.87

29.03

0.82

6.35

(1) Boe/d is calculated based on actual calendar days during the period.
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133,961
491

89.88
4.47
80.07

10.28
5.58
21.47
0.39
20.41
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Nine months Revenues and Sales Volumes

Oil and Natural Gas Sales Volumes. During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we had total sales volumes
of 133,527 Boe, compared to total sales volumes of 133,961 Boe during the nine months ended September 30, 2012.

Oil and Natural Gas Sales. During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we had oil and natural gas sales of
$10.1 million, as compared to $10.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2012.

Costs and Expenses

Operating Costs. During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we incurred operating costs of $1.9 million, as
compared to $1.7 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2012.

Production Taxes. Production taxes were $0.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, as compared to
$0.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2012, which is attributable to higher production in the nine
months ended September 30, 2013.

Depreciation, Depletion, Amortization and Impairment. For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, depreciation,
depletion, amortization, and impairment was $3.9 million, as compared to $2.8 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2012.

General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense was $0.8 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2013, as compared to $2.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2012. The decrease was a
result of personnel costs, change of control expenses, and professional fees being lower in the nine months ended
September 30, 2013 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2012.

Other Expense / Income. Other income was $0.04 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, as
compared to expense of $0.04 million for the six months ended September 30, 2012.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
General

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flow from operations and borrowings under our line of credit. Our ability to
fund planned capital expenditures and to make acquisitions depends upon our future operating performance,
availability of borrowings under our line of credit and availability of equity and debt financing, which is affected by
prevailing economic conditions in our industry and financial, business and other factors, some of which are beyond
our control. Our cash flow from operations is mainly influenced by the prices we receive for our oil and natural gas
production and the quantity of oil and natural gas we produce. Prices for oil and natural gas are affected by national
and international economic and political conditions, national and global supply and demand for hydrocarbons,
seasonal weather influences and other factors beyond our control.

Capital Expenditures

Most of our capital expenditures are for the exploration, development, and production of oil and natural gas reserves.
For the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we had capital expenditures of approximately $6.9 million for the
development of oil and natural gas properties. We anticipate capital expenditures of between $2 million and $3
million for the remainder of 2013. See “Planned Operations” for more information about our planned capital
expenditures.
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Liquidity
At September 30 2013, we had approximately $978,000 in cash and cash equivalents and $12.2 million outstanding

under our line of credit with Independent Bank. At September 30, 2013, we had a working capital deficit of $403,614
compared to a working capital deficit of $3.3 million at December 31, 2012.

22

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION 57



Edgar Filing: TREDEGAR CORP - Form DEF 14A

On February 5, 2013, we entered into a Senior First Lien Secured Credit Agreement with Independent Bank. Our
initial draw on the line of credit was $8.9 million which was primarily used to pay off the Texas Capital Bank line of
credit principal and accrued interest. On February 28, 2013, we drew $2,000,000 and on May 24, 2013, we drew a
further $1,300,000 on the line of credit and used those funds to pay accounts payable related to the drilling program.

The borrowing base under the Credit Facility is determined at the discretion of the Lender based on, among other
things, the Lender’s estimated value of the proved reserves attributable to the Borrowers’ oil and natural gas properties
that have been mortgaged to the Lender, and is subject to regular redeterminations on September 30 and March 31 of
each year, and interim redeterminations described in the Credit Agreement and potentially monthly commitment
reductions, in each case which may reduce the amount of the borrowing base. As of September 30, 2013, the
borrowing base was $30,000,000 million, leaving $17,800,000 of availability.

In February 2013, we settled certain creditors liability for $633,975 in cash and by arranging for our largest
shareholder, Red Mountain Resources, Inc., to issue the creditors an aggregate of 745,854 shares of its common
stock. Further, the holder of the subordinated unsecured debt elected to convert the entire principal and accrued
interest balance of the notes into 611,630 shares of our common stock.

Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities was $5.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013, compared
to net cash provided by operating activities of $5.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2012. The
increase in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to a $2.8 million profit and $4.7 million of
non-cash depreciation, depletion, amortization and impairment, offset by ($0.8 million) of accounts receivable.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased to $8.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2013 from
$8.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2012.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2013, net cash provided by financing activities was $2.8 million, as
compared to $2.8 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2012. Net cash provided by financing
activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2013 was primarily comprised of $12.2 million drawn under
our Independent Bank line of credit, offset by repayments of our Texas Capital Bank line of credit of $8.75 million,
and cash repayments to creditors of $0.7 million.

Indebtedness
Notes Payable- Green Shoe

In connection with the merger, the Company, as the accounting acquirer, assumed an unsecured loan from Green Shoe
Investments Ltd. (“Green Shoe”) in the principal amount of $487,000 at an interest rate of 5.0%

On April 26, 2011, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with Green Shoe, and the Company executed and
delivered a Promissory Note to Green Shoe in connection therewith. The amount of the Promissory Note and the loan
from Green Shoe (the “Green Shoe Loan”) was $550,936 and the purpose of the Green Shoe Loan was to consolidate
and extend all of the loans owed by the Company and its predecessors to Green Shoe including without limitation the
following: (i) loan dated May 9, 2008 in the principal amount of $100,000, (ii) loan dated May 23, 2008 in the
principal amount of $150,000, (iii) loan dated July 18, 2008 in the principal amount of $50,000, (iv) loan dated
February 24, 2009 in the principal amount of $100,000, and (v) loan dated April 29, 2009 in the principal amount of
$87,000 plus accrued interest of $63,936. The Green Shoe Loan is unsecured.
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Beginning March 31, 2011 (the effective date of the Promissory Note), the amounts owed under the Promissory Note
began to accrue interest at a rate of 9.99%, and the Promissory Note provided that no payments of principal or interest
were due until the maturity date of September 30, 2012. The Company is obligated to pay all accrued interest and
make a principal payment equal to one-third of the principal owed upon the closing of an equity offering resulting in a
specified amount of net proceeds to the Company. In addition, Green Shoe was granted the right to convert the
principal and interest owed into shares of common stock of the Company at a conversion price of $4.00 per share. The
principal balance of the note as of September 30, 2012 was $367,309.

The debt and associated accrued interest were not repaid at maturity on September 30, 2012. On October 22, 2012,
the Company received notice from the lender’s counsel that it would be considered in default on the note beginning
November 1, 2012 if the note and accrued interest were not paid in full. From November 1, 2012, the note began to
accrue interest at the default rate of 18%. On November 30, 2012, Jackson Street Investors, LLC purchased the note
from Green Shoe Investments. Subsequently, on December 12, 2012, Red Mountain Resources, Inc. purchased the
note from Jackson Street Investors, LLC. As of December 31, 2012, the note had a principal balance of $367,309 and
an accrued interest balance of $62,924.
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On February 28, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a resolution to modify the terms of the note so that
the conversion price was reduced from $4.00 to $1.50 per share. On February 28, 2013, Red Mountain Resources,

Inc. converted the principal balance of $367,309 and accrued interest balance of $73,611 into 293,947 shares of the
Company’s common stock. Accordingly, at September 30, 2013, the balance of the note was zero.

Notes Payable- Little Bay

In connection with the merger, the Company, as the accounting acquirer, assumed an unsecured loan from Little Bay
Consulting SA (“Little Bay”) in the principal amount of $520,000 at an interest rate of 5%.

On April 26, 2011, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with Little Bay, and the Company executed and
delivered a Promissory Note to Little Bay in connection therewith. The amount of the Promissory Note and the loan
from Little Bay (the “Little Bay Loan”) was $595,423 and the purpose of the Little Bay Loan was to consolidate and
extend all of the loans owed by the Company and its predecessors to Little Bay including without limitation the
following: (i) loan dated March 7, 2008 in the original principal amount of $220,000, (ii) loan dated July 18, 2008 in
the original principal amount of $100,000, and (iii) loan dated October 3, 2008 in the principal amount of $200,000
plus accrued interest of $75,423. The Little Bay Loan is unsecured.

Beginning March 31, 2011 (the effective date of the Promissory Note), the amounts owed under the Promissory Note
began to accrue interest at a rate of 9.99%, and the Promissory Note provided that no payments of principal or interest
were due until the maturity date of September 30, 2012. The Company is obligated to pay all accrued interest and
make a principal payment equal to one-third of the principal owed upon the closing of an equity offering resulting in a
specified amount of net proceeds to the Company. In addition, Little Bay was granted the right to convert the
principal and interest owed into shares of common stock of the Company at a conversion price of $4.00 per share. The
principal balance of the note as of September 30, 2012 was $396,969.

The debt and associated accrued interest were not repaid at maturity on September 30, 2012. On October 22, 2012,
the Company received notice from the lender’s counsel that it would be considered in default on the note beginning
November 1, 2012 if the note and accrued interest were not paid in full. From November 1, 2012, the note began to
accrue interest at the default rate of 18%. On November 30, 2012, Jackson Street Investors, LLC purchased the note
from Little Bay Consulting, S.A. Subsequently, on December 12, 2012, Red Mountain Resources, Inc. purchased the
note from Jackson Street Investors, LLC. As of December 31, 2012, the note had a principal balance of $396,969 and
an accrued interest balance of $68,005.

On February 28, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a resolution to modify the terms of the note so that
the conversion price was reduced from $4.00 to $1.50 per share. On February 28, 2013, Red Mountain Resources,

Inc. converted the principal balance of $396,969 and accrued interest balance of $79,555 into 317,683 shares of the
Company’s common stock. Accordingly, at September 30, 2013, the balance of the note was zero.

Line of Credit

As of December 31, 2011, the borrowing base on the Texas Capital Bank (“TCB”) line of credit was
$4,500,000. Effective March 1, 2012, the borrowing base was increased to $9,500,000. The interest rate was
calculated at the greater of the adjusted base rate or 4%. The line of credit was collateralized by producing wells and
was to mature on January 14, 2014. As the result of the sale of certain interests in oil and gas properties, effective
August 1, 2012, the borrowing base was reduced by $750,000 and that amount was repaid to TCB out of the sale
proceeds.

On February 5, 2013, the Company entered into a Senior First Lien Secured Credit Agreement with Red Mountain
Resources, Inc., Black Rock Capital, Inc. and RMR Operating, LLC and Independent Bank, as Lender. Red Mountain

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION 60



Edgar Filing: TREDEGAR CORP - Form DEF 14A

owns approximately 85% of the outstanding common stock of Cross Border and Black Rock and RMR Operating are
wholly owned subsidiaries of Red Mountain. On February 5, 2013, the Company drew $8,900,000 on the line of
credit and used a portion of that draw to fully pay down the TCB line of credit. On February 28, 2013, the Company
drew $2,000,000 and on May 24, 2013, the Company drew a further $1,300,000 on the line of credit and used those
funds to pay outstanding accounts payable related to our drilling program. As of September 30, 2013, the Credit
Agreement balance was $12,200,000, leaving $7,8000,000 available.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of September 30, 2013, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined by Regulation S-K.
Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”). Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about our beliefs and expectations, are
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include statements preceded by, followed by or that include

the words “may,” “could,” “would,” “should,” believe,” “expect,” anticipate,” “plan,” “estimate,” “target,” “project,” or “in
expressions and the negative of such words and expressions, although not all forward-looking statements contain such

words or expressions.

99 ¢ LR N3 29 ¢ LR INT3 99 ¢
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Forward-looking statements are only predictions and are not guarantees of performance. These statements generally
relate to our plans, objectives and expectations for future operations and are based on management’s current beliefs and
assumptions, which in turn are based on its experience and its perception of historical trends, current conditions and
expected future developments as well as other factors it believes are appropriate under the circumstances. Although
we believe that the plans, objectives and expectations reflected in or suggested by the forward-looking statements are
reasonable, there can be no assurance that actual results will not differ materially from those expressed or implied in
such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements also involve risks and uncertainties. Many of these risks
and uncertainties are beyond our ability to control or predict and could cause results to differ materially from the
results discussed in such forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the
following:
our ability to raise additional capital to fund future capital expenditures;

our ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations, borrowings or other sources to enable us to fully
develop and produce our oil and natural gas properties;

declines or volatility in the prices we receive for our oil and natural gas;

general economic conditions, whether internationally, nationally or in the regional and local market areas in which
we do business;

risks associated with drilling, including completion risks, cost overruns and the drilling of non-economic wells or
dry holes;

uncertainties associated with estimates of proved oil and natural gas reserves;

the presence or recoverability of estimated oil and natural gas reserves and the actual future production
rates and associated costs;

risks and liabilities associated with acquired companies and properties;
risks related to integration of acquired companies and properties;
potential defects in title to our properties;
cost and availability of drilling rigs, equipment, supplies, personnel and oilfield services;
geological concentration of our reserves;
environmental or other governmental regulations, including legislation of hydraulic fracture stimulation;

our ability to secure firm transportation for oil and natural gas we produce and to sell the oil and natural gas at
market prices;

exploration and development risks;
management’s ability to execute our plans to meet our goals;

our ability to retain key members of our management team;
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weather conditions;
actions or inactions of third-party operators of our properties;
costs and liabilities associated with environmental, health and safety laws;
our ability to find and retain highly skilled personnel;
operating hazards attendant to the oil and natural gas business;
competition in the oil and natural gas industry; and
the other factors discussed under Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31, 2012.
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Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date hereof. All such forward-looking statements and any subsequent
written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf are expressly
qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section and any other cautionary
statements that may accompany such forward-looking statements. Except as otherwise required by applicable law, we
disclaim any duty to update any forward-looking statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk

On February 5, 2013, we entered into the Credit Facility, which exposes us to interest rate risk associated with interest
rate fluctuations on outstanding borrowings. At September 30, 2013, we had $12.2 million in outstanding borrowings
under the Credit Facility. We incur interest on borrowings under the Credit Facility at a rate per annum equal to the
greater of (x) the U.S. prime rate as published in The Wall Street Journal’s “Money Rates” table in effect from time to
time and (y) 4.0% (4.0 % at September 30, 2013). A hypothetical 10% change in the interest rates we pay on our
borrowings under the Credit Facility as of September 30, 2013 would result in an increase or decrease in our interest
costs of approximately $49,000 per year.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information

required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,

summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and
forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that

information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and

communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons

performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. There are

inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures. Accordingly, even

effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control

objectives.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September
30, 2013. Based on that evaluation, and as a result of the material weaknesses described in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer
have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months

ended September 30, 2013 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Please see Note 10 to our unaudited notes to financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no material changes to the risk factors discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2012.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
None.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information
None.
27
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: November
26,2013

By:/s/ Earl M. Sebring
Earl M. Sebring
Interim President

By: /s/ Kenneth S. Lamb
Kenneth S. Lamb
Chief Accounting Officer,
Secretary, and Treasurer

28

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION 66



Edgar Filing: TREDEGAR CORP - Form DEF 14A

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Name of Exhibit

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002. (%)

31.2 Certification of Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, (%)

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (*)

32.2 Certification of Principal Accounting Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. as adopted pursuant

to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (*)
101.INS**  XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* Filed herewith.

** As provided in Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, this information shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 11

and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject to
liability under those sections.
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